AFRL-IF-RS-TR-1998-181 Final Technical Report September1998



19981027

EVALUATION OF ELECTROMAGNETIC MEASUREMENTS WITH REGARD TO HUMAN EXPOSURE STANDARDS

Northeastern University

Sheldon S. Sandler

DTIC QUALITY INSPECTED 8

APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIMITED.

AIR FORCE RESEARCH LABORATORY INFORMATION DIRECTORATE ROME RESEARCH SITE ROME, NEW YORK This report has been reviewed by the Air Force Research Laboratory, Information Directorate, Public Affairs Office (IFOIPA) and is releasable to the National Technical Information Service (NTIS). At NTIS it will be releasable to the general public, including foreign nations.

AFRL-IF-RS-TR-1998-181 has been reviewed and is approved for publication.

APPROVED:

Donald R PHUg

DONALD R. PFLUG Project Engineer

-priced Cusal

FOR THE DIRECTOR: (

JAMES W. CUSACK Chief, Information Systems Division Information Directorate

If your address has changed or if you wish to be removed from the Air Force Research Laboratory Rome Research Site mailing list, or if the addressee is no longer employed by your organization, please notify AFRL/IFSB, 525 Brooks Road, Rome, NY 13441-4505. This will assist us in maintaining a current mailing list.

Do not return copies of this report unless contractual obligations or notices on a specific document require that it be returned.

REPOR	Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188							
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated i the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden Deprations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204,	o average 1 hour per response, including the time for raviewin estimate or any other aspect of this collection of informati Arlington, VA 22202-4302, and to the Office of Management	instructions, searching existing data source n, including suggestions for reducing this and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (C	s, pathening and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing purden, to Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information 704-0188), Washington, DC 20503.					
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave blank)	1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave blank) 2. REPORT DATE 3. REPORT TYPE AND D							
	September 1998 Fin							
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE	5. FUNDING NUMBERS							
EVALUATION OF ELECTROM.	AGNETIC MEASUREMENTS	WITH REGARD	$C = F_{30602-94-C-0288}$					
TO HUMAN EXPOSURE STAN	DARDS		PE - 63654N					
			PR - R468					
6. AUTHOR(S)			TA - 00					
			WU - P2					
Sheldon S. Sandler								
7. DEDEODMING ODGANIZATION NAME(S) AN	D ADDRESS(ES)		8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION					
Northeastern University			REPORT NUMBER					
Division of Research Management			NT/A					
422 Loko Holl			N/A					
425 Lake Hall								
Bester MA 02115								
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NAM	E(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)		10. SPONSORING/MONITORING					
Naval Explosive Ordinance Dispo	sal Air Force Research	Laboratory/IFSB	AGENUT REPORT NOMBER					
Technology Division	525 Brooks Road		AFRI -IF-RS-TR-1998-181					
Indian Head MD 20540-5070	Rome NY 13441-45	05						
11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES								
Air Force Research Laboratory P	roject Engineer: Donald R. Pf	ug/IFSB/(315) 330-42	.90					
All Toree Research Euconately -		-						
12a. DISTRIBUTION AVAILABILITY STATEMEN	IT	,	12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE					
	11							
Approved for public release; distr	ibution unifilitied.							
13. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 words)			the fields and meduce biological effects					
The effects of radio frequency (R	F) and extremely low frequency	y (ELF) electromagne	tic fields call produce biological effects					
that can be harmful to human hea	lth. Both thermal and field effe	ects are possible. Init	s report estimates the effects of human					
exposure to electromagnetic fields	s in four frequency regimes: 6) Hz. (nigh voltage po	Un (collular communication systems)					
frequency (VLF) communication	systems extendible to 10-30 M	Hz range), and 900 M	HZ (Cellular communication systems).					
An outline of the approach needed	i to analyze the 70-144 MHz c	mmunication range is	s given but no results were generated in					
this effort. The known thermal a	nd non-thermal effects are revi	ewed. Hazardous exp	osure situations are investigated					
including epidemiological studies	, laboratory exposure to animal	s and in vitro studies	at the centular level. Guidelines are					
suggested for the ELF, VLF and	cellular telephone frequencies.	The scaling of measu	irements is discussed along with					
approximate analytical results. H	lealth standards are presented,	and conclusions and re	commendations are given. The report					
also includes an extensive bibliog	raphy. Appendix A has an eva	luation of government	turnished field measurements with					
regard to IEEE and ANSI standar	rds. Appendix B contains one	preprint and three prep	prints of papers supported by or related					
to this work.								
			15. NUMBER OF PAGES					
14. SUBJEUI IEKMS	52							
Non-Thermal Effects. Low Freen	ation	16. PRICE CODE						
Tion-Include Excess, Low Tree	• •							
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION	8. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION	19. SECURITY CLASSIFICATI OF ABSTRACT	ABSTRACT					
		UNCLASSIF	ED UL					
UNCLASSIFIED	UNCLASSIFIED		Standard Form 298 (Rev. 2-89) (EG) Prescribed by ANSI Std. 238-18					

.

4

2

Prescribed by ANSI Std. 238.18 Designed using Perform Pro, WHS/DIOR, Oct 94

Table of Contents

.

E	xecutive Summary	iv
1.	Introduction	1
2.	Results for Different Frequency Regimes	2
	2.1. 60-Hz Power Frequency	2
	2.2. 28-kHz Case Extendible to the 10–30 MHz Range	3
	2.3. 900-MHz Cellular Telephone Operating Near the Head	3
	2.4. Outline of Approach to the 70–144-MHz Communications	
	Frequencies	3
3.	Known Credible Thermal and Non-Thermal Effects	5
	3.1. Credible Data Relative to Non-Thermal Effects of Exposure	
	of the Human Body to Electromagnetic Fields	5
	3.1.1. Thermal and Non-Thermal Effects	6
	3.1.2. Electric and Magnetic Fields	6
	3.2. Identification of Hazardous Exposure Situations	7
	3.2.1. Epidemiological Studies	8
	3.2.2. In Vivo Studies of Exposure of Laboratory Animals to	
	Electromagnetic Fields	11
	3.2.3. In Vitro Studies at the Cellular Level	13
	3.3. Exposure Situations and Suggested Guidelines	15
	3.3.1. The ELF Range of Frequencies	16
	3.3.2. The VLF Range of Frequencies	16
	3.3.3. Cellular-Telephone Frequencies	16

4. Discussion of EM Radiation Standards	16
4.1. Relation to Known Effects	16
4.2. Suggestions for Setting Up Standards	17
5. Conclusions and Recommendations	20
6. Bibliography	21
6.1. References Cited in Report	21
6.2. Additional References	23
Appendix A. Evaluation of Government-Furnished Field Measurements	34
A.1. Introduction	34
A.2. General Comments	35
A.3. Comparison with Standards for Human Exposure to Radio	
Frequency Electromagnetic Fields	35
A.3.1. IEEE Standards	35
A.3.2. ANSI (1982)	38
A.4. References	38
Appendix B. Published Papers Related to This Contract	40

ii

List of Tables

Table Number	Table Title	Page Number
Table 1	Electric and Magnetic Fields at Distance y and Height z above the Earth Near a Three-Wire, Three-Phase 100-kV Power Line	9
Table 2	Like Table 1 but for 200-kV (400-kV) Power Lines	9
Table 3	Risk Ratio (Leukemia) near 220- and 400-kV Power Lines with Magnetic Field and Distance as Variables	10
Table 4	Ranges of Magnetic and Electric Field near 200- and 400-kV Power Lines as Obtained from Table 2	10
Table 5	Maximum Permissible Exposure (MPE) for Controlled Environments	36
Table 6	Maximum Permissible Exposure (MPE) for Uncontrolled Environments	37
Table 7	Radio Frequency Protection Guides, f in MHz	39

Executive Summary

Radio frequency (RF) and extremely low frequency (ELF) fields can produce biological effects that can be harmful to human health. Both thermal and field effects are possible. Heating does not play any significant role in the case of field effects. A review of EM radiation standards was carried out and the effects of EM fields on humans as reported in the extensive literature on the subject were studied. Emphasis was placed on separating studies on thermal effects from those on non-thermal effects.

Analytical work on determining EM fields in the body has been accomplished for three specific cases: 60 Hz, 28 kHz, and 900 MHz. The 60-Hz study is concerned with finding the currents induced in the body of a human standing under or near a high-voltage power line. The 28-kHz study is related to the Navy submarine communication system located near Annapolis, MD. Finally, the 900-MHz work is related to determining the fields induced in the human head due to a closely coupled cellular telephone. The intermediate communication band extending from 70–144 MHz was not included in the present study. An outline of a solution for this frequency range is discussed. Detailed results and analysis for the frequency ranges covered are presented in the form of published or submitted technical papers.

At low frequencies, the question of electric and magnetic field effects as separate entities was investigated. Here results show that there is a big contribution due to the larger induced fields and currents tangential to the body. Using an exposure situation, due to high-power lines, epidemiological results on children were evaluated. However, epidemiological studies do not provide satisfactory exposure situations to be useful in locating credible data associated with cellular non-thermal effects of exposure to electromagnetic fields. *In vivo* studies of exposure of laboratory animals to electromagnetic fields were evaluated for effects. Since experiments with living animals neglected the large *electric* field in the body, a scaling problem occurs, which affects exposure situations for safety guidelines. *In vitro* studies at the cellular level led to EM field levels which produced meaningful effects. Frequency ranges here were 60 Hz and 30–300 Hz. *In vitro* studies of the effect of exposure to EM fields in the VLF range of frequencies do not appear to have been carried out in any extensive manner. In vitro studies by others at frequencies in the range 0.1–100 Hz are extensive and clearly indicate significant cellular effects from exposure to EM fields. Exposure situations and suggested guidelines are also given for different ranges of frequencies.

A discussion of EM radiation standards is given along with suggestions for setting up more meaningful standards than those existing presently.

An evaluation of government-furnished field measurements was carried out using IEEE and ANSI standards. It should be noted that no general conclusions can be drawn from the measurements. Conclusions are only relevant to the specific antenna systems and environment described in this report.

This report contains an extensive bibliography with important papers noted. A conclusion and recommendation section is included. One important conclusion is that meaningful EM exposure standards are not presently available.

1. Introduction

Concern has been expressed by workers, as well as the general population, that radio frequency (RF) and extremely low frequency (ELF) fields can produce biological effects that can be harmful to human health. The RF and ELF fields produce a variety of thermal effects, depending on whether the exposure levels are high or low. In addition, field effects are possible in which heating does not play any significant role (i.e., non-thermal effects). National and international agencies have published guidelines and standards on human exposure limits. The basis for their work rests on established data appearing in the literature.

It is instructive to look at the EM exposure problem with a view towards its hierarchical structure. On the global level, the whole body may be exposed to excessive levels of nonionizing radiation, which affects cells everywhere. The body's response is to destroy the affected cells, and in doing so it causes great damage or even death. There have been cases in the past where unsuspecting people have unknowingly been exposed, feel warmth, and later experience grave consequences. At another level of exposure, distant or near sources, such as power lines or cellular telephones, affect certain parts of the body, such as the bone marrow or the brain. Here it is found that some organs are more sensitive than others to both thermal and non-thermal EM exposures. At still another level, very small fields can affect biological processes in the body. One example is the influence of induced fields on nerve transmission by a change in the ion movements in the nerve fibers. Looking at the problem as a whole, it is seen that there are many ways in which the body responds to EM exposure, and general approaches will not be fruitful. The mandate then is to investigate specific exposure situations and try to correlate known local field values in the body with their biological effects.

This program involves a number of interrelated problems. One problem has to do with the basis for EM standards, namely fields and power densities external to the body. Essentially, this involves far-field concepts independent of the distance to the source. In reality, sources which are electrically near the body produce different fields inside the body than those produced by plane (i.e., far-field) waves. This differentiation of close and distant sources can

be loosely called near- and far-field cases. Original standards were based on heating effects due to distant sources which produced plane-wave fields in the vicinity of a human body. Near-field cases are more difficult to evaluate, not only because the fields are more complex, but also because one must know the details of the radiating system and the specific part of the body being exposed. Thus there is a specificity attribute of the near-field problem that does not occur with distant sources. Another problem concerns fields maintained by pulsed sources where the average power is small but the maximum field is large. Consequently, biological effects are possible due to high instantaneous fields. These effects have to be differentiated from CW fields which are involved with tissue heating. As a last consideration, it will be necessary to investigate the specific physical arrangements where the measurements were taken in order to come to any conclusions. It can be said that EM radiation exposure studies cannot be done in general, since they require specific physical and EM information.

2. Results for Different Frequency Regimes

2.1. 60-Hz Power Frequency

The electromagnetic field at all points near a high-voltage transmission line was determined in analytical form. Account was taken of the presence of the earth below the three-wire, three-phase power line. The electric and magnetic fields, the total axial current, and the current and power densities in the interior of a human body were determined when the body is under or near the line, or reclining in a bed near the height of the line. The fields are very weak, and the current and power densities so small that thermal effects can be ignored, but not necessarily possible effects on nerve action, the functioning of cells, or on certain secretions.

The work summarized above is found in Appendix B in a paper by King and Wu entitled "The complete electromagnetic field of a three-phase transmission line over the earth and its interaction with the human body" [1].

Additional work on the 60-Hz case, which is extendible to the 10-30 MHz range, was done by King and Sandler and is to be found in Appendix B. It appears in the paper titled "Electric fields and currents induced in organs of human body when exposed to ELF and VLF electromagnetic fields" [2]. In this research, the fraction of the total axial current, the axial current density and the axial electric field in each organ of the body were obtained at any desired cross section. The electric field here is the average macroscopic field in which cells in each organ are immersed, when the whole body is exposed to a known incident field. It corresponds *in vivo* to the electric field used *in vitro* to expose cells in tissue.

2.2. 28-kHz Case Extendible to the 10–30 MHz Range

The VLF transmitter located on a peninsula near Annapolis, MD, maintains strong electric and magnetic fields in the adjacent urban areas. These were determined at selected locations and then used to evaluate the currents and associated electric field induced in the human body. The work summarized above will be found in Appendix B in a paper entitled "Electromagnetic field in human body due to VLF transmitter," by King and Harrison [3].

2.3. 900-MHz Cellular Telephone Operating Near the Head

The accurate determination of the complete electromagnetic field penetrating through the skull into the brain, due to a cellular transceiver was determined. The specific absorption rate (SAR) was also determined. The results of this work are given in Appendix B in a paper by King entitled "Electromagnetic field generated in model of human head by simplified telephone transceiver" [4].

2.4. Outline of Approach to 70–144-MHz Communications Frequencies

The intermediate communication band extending from 70–144 MHz was not included in the present study. This is because the body is of the order of a wavelength, and the theory requires a special formulation which is different from the other cases covered in this report. The basic electromagnetic model is a solid lossy dipole immersed in an incident field. Although there is not sufficient time to attack the problem, it could be done in a future study.

Analysis relative to linear antennas in free space is found in the book by King entitled *The Theory of Linear Antennas* [5]. For a human with length 1.75 meters, corresponding dipole lengths would be in the range from 0.42λ to 1.22λ . This assumes the dipole is perfectly conducting, and one is concerned only with the field outside the dipole, not inside. The electrical properties of the body are

 $\sigma = 0.5 \text{ S/m}$ (conductivity)

and

 $\epsilon_r = 40,$ (relative dielectric constant).

Note that the dielectric constant ϵ is $\epsilon = \epsilon_0 \epsilon_r$, where $\epsilon_0 = 0.8854 \times 10^{-11}$ F/m. The skin depth d_s is the distance in which a wave decreases to e^{-1} of its original value, and is given by

$$d_s = \sqrt{2/\omega\mu\sigma},$$

where

$$\omega = 2\pi f,$$

 $\mu = \text{magnetic constant},$
 $\mu_0 = 4\pi \times 10^{-7} \text{ henry/m}$ (free space).

At 70 MHz and 144 MHz, the skin depths are 8.5 cm and 6.9 cm, and the human body cannot be considered perfectly conducting.

This result is quite different from the 60-Hz case, where the skin depth is large compared to the diameter of the body. Much work has been done on bare and insulated antennas in sea water by King and Smith as reported in the book Antennas in Matter [6]. However, the human body does not act electrically as a perfectly conducting bare or insulated antenna in the frequency regime under consideration. Furthermore, because of the relatively high value of the dielectric constant, the transverse dimensions are not electrically small due to the $\sqrt{\epsilon_r}$ increase in wavelength in the body.

An outline of the solution is as follows. A relevant integral equation or equations would be found that satisfy the boundary conditions on the surface of the equivalent dipole. Using an incident electric field, interior currents in the dipole would be found. Approximate general solutions for the currents would be checked in specific cases with numerical procedures, such as the FDTD (Finite-Difference Time-Domain) method. Simple functional expressions for the interior currents would be useful not only for determining the electric field in the body, but also for physically understanding the system and its dependence on basic parameters such as frequency and body size. The resonance curve would not be sharp, as in the case of a perfectly conducting dipole. It would also depend on the transverse dimensions. As in the ELF case carried out under the present study, the electric field, total current and current densities could be calculated for the various organs in the body. It should also be noted that work on the 70–144 MHz range can be extended to 400 MHz.

3. Known Credible Thermal and Non-Thermal Effects

3.1. Credible Data Relative to Non-Thermal Effects of Exposure of the Human Body to Electromagnetic Fields

The investigation of possibly deleterious effects of exposure to electromagnetic fields is a complicated problem. To begin with, it involves the identification of such effects in a great variety of exposure situations over wide ranges of frequency, intensity, and duration. This study will emphasize practically meaningful and theoretically useful situations in a *lowfrequency* range that extends from 50 Hz to 30 MHz throughout which the human body is electrically short and a *high-frequency* range from 0.9 to 1.8 GHz. This includes the fields of 50- and 60-Hz power lines, 10- to 30-kHz VLF shore-based transmitters, 10-kHz to 30-MHz shipboard transmitters, and the fields of cellular telephones. The intermediate range from 30 to 150 MHz, which includes full-body resonance, is omitted from this report since it requires a different analytical approach.

3.1.1. Thermal and Non-Thermal Effects

Observed effects of electromagnetic fields have been separated into thermal and nonthermal groups. Thermal effects involve increases in temperature due to exposure to an electromagnetic field. The incident field induces electric currents in the body as a whole or localized in a particular part or organ. Since the electron and ion conductivity σ_0 is finite and the relative permittivity $\epsilon_r = \epsilon' + i\epsilon''$ is complex, electric energy is converted into heat. This can be helpful as in the hyperthermia treatment of tumors, deleterious as in its effect on the eye, or harmless as in the clicks in the ear. Note that these are all macroscopic effects that involve the macroscopic permittivity and conductivity. Microscopic non-thermal effects involve the cells and molecules in the tissues of a particular organ. The electric and magnetic fields induced in the different organs or parts of the body are macroscopic average quantities that interact with charges on cells and molecules to generate local fields particularly at the cell membranes. It is much more difficult to identify non-thermal effects than thermal ones.

3.1.2. Electric and Magnetic Fields

The electromagnetic field consists of two vector quantities, the electric and the magnetic fields. These are interrelated in a complicated manner in Maxwell's equations that involves electric charges and currents. The latter may be conduction currents, polarization currents, or magnetization currents. In the absence of magnetic materials, the last named are nonexistent. The electric and magnetic fields are independent only when they are time-invariant as in electrostatics and direct currents. All thermal effects in the human body involve only the electric field in the quantity $\sigma_e E^2$, where σ_e is the real effective conductivity $\sigma_e = \sigma_0 + \omega \epsilon''$. Important cellular effects have been shown experimentally [7] to involve only the electric field when exposed to either an electric or a magnetic field. The latter induces circulating electric currents and electric fields in the tissues and across cell membranes. Clearly, standards for exposure must involve the magnitude and direction of the electric field induced in the organs of the body.

Unfortunately, conventional wisdom has promoted the idea that at low frequencies primarily exposure to magnetic fields is harmful. This belief seems to be based on the erroneous assumption that the boundary condition on the normal component of the electric field on the surface of the body is sufficient to determine the electric field and current in that body. The correct formulation is based on the boundary condition for the tangential component of the electric field. It leads to the well-known integral equation for the axial current. This can be solved in simple form for the human body at frequencies for which this is electrically short. From the total axial current, the axial components of the electric field and of the current density are readily evaluated. These are much greater than the small radial currents that charge the surface and also larger than the circulating current and electric field associated with the simultaneous exposure to the transverse magnetic field.

It seems evident that a meaningful exposure metric can be established in terms of the electric field induced in the body since this is known to be involved in eliciting cellular effects. This means the externally applied electric field is the dominant factor and its magnitude and direction should be involved in the exposure metric. With reference to power-line fields, the large vertical electric field $E_z^{\rm inc}$ is directly related to the large transverse magnetic field $B_y^{\rm inc}$ by the simple formula $E_z^{\rm inc} = cB_y^{\rm inc}$ when the current and voltage are traveling waves. However, this is an ideal condition that is well approximated only with high-voltage lines that transmit megawatts of power to a single distant load in the form of a transformer station. The field of other types of power lines with distributed loads are difficult to determine analytically. Accordingly, useful exposure situations are best sought with reference to high-voltage lines with a predominantly traveling wave of current and voltage.

At VLF and higher frequencies, the incident fields are generated by vertical antennas on the surface of the earth. Depending on the distance from the source, the near field as well as the far field may be involved.

3.2. Identification of Hazardous Exposure Situations

The problem at hand is the identification of non-thermal effects of exposure to electromagnetic fields in well characterized exposure situations. There are several approaches to relating, for example, the incidence of cancer to exposure to electromagnetic fields. The following are important.

3.2.1. Epidemiological Studies

The difficulties in obtaining meaningful statistical data and the even greater problems in interpreting the data obtained are discussed in detail by Carstensen [8], specifically with reference to exposure to 50–60-Hz magnetic fields and the incidence of cancer. In reviewing more than 100 epidemiological studies and attempting to evaluate them quantitatively, he concludes that "the presumably exposed population has essentially the same health characteristics as the population as a whole." However, simply averaging all available data may not yield the right answer since the reliability of different epidemiological studies is far from equal. The most recent investigation by Feychting and Ahlbom [9] confirms earlier work that indicates a 2.5 to 3 times greater likelihood of leukemia among children that have grown up near high-voltage power lines as compared to those living far away. And in this study special care has been taken to assure as great a reliability as can probably be achieved.

Exposure is measured in terms of time averages and Carstensen estimates this to be "low" when the magnetic field in which the person is immersed is $0.1 \ \mu T = 1 \ mG$ and "high" when it is $0.4 \ \mu T = 4 \ mG$. The data of Feychting and Ahlbom [9] included everyone under 16 who had lived on a property within 300 m of any of the 220- and 400-kV power lines that extend for 15,000 km over Sweden. This group was exposed to calculated magnetic fields that took full account of "the height of the towers, distance between towers, distance between phases, the ordering of phases, and the load on the line." These can be compared with calculations in King and Wu [1], where formulas, tables, and graphs are given for all of the components of the electric and magnetic fields of a 100-kV three-phase, three-wire power line carrying 300 A. The vertical component of the electric field and transverse component of the magnetic field at a height z = 2 m above the ground and at the distance y measured from directly below the central wire are shown in Table 1.

If the voltage of the power line is doubled and quadrupled to correspond to lines in the Feychting and Ahlbom [9] study, $|E_z|$ and $|B_y|$ in Table 1 must be doubled (quadrupled) to give the values shown in Table 2.

Table 1. Electric and Magnetic Fields at Distance y and Height z abovethe Earth Near a Three-Wire, Three-Phase 100-kV Power Line

<i>y</i> , m	10	20	30	40	50	100	200	300
$ E_z , V/m$	535	287	140	70	15.4	5.4	0.7	0.206
$ B_y ,\mu\mathrm{T}$	1.78	0.96	0.47	0.23	0.051	0.018	0.0023	0.00069

.

Table 2. Like Table 1 but for 200-kV (400-kV) Power Lines

$y,{ m m}$	10	20	30	40	
$ E_z , V/m$	1070	574	280	140	
	(2140)	(1148)	(560)	(280)	
$ B_y ,\mu\mathrm{T}$	3.56	1.92	0.94	0.46	
	(7.12)	(3.84)	(1.88)	(0.92)	
y, m	50	100	200	300	
$ E_z , V/m$	30.8	10.8	1.4	0.412	
	(61.6)	(21.6)	(2.8)	(0.824)	
$ B_y ,\mu\mathrm{T}$	0.102	0.036	0.0046	0.0014	
	(0.204)	(0.072)	(0.0092)	(0.0028)	

Results obtained by Feychting and Ahlbom [9] are summarized in Table 3. For comparison, the calculated results of King and Wu [1] can be arranged as in Table 4.

A comparison of the results in Tables 3 and 4 shows that the risk ratios for leukemia of 4.3, 3.5, and 2.9 fall in the distance range ≤ 50 m; the risk ratios equal to or less than 1.1 are in the distance range ≥ 100 m. This shows complete consistency and indicates a risk for those living closer than 50 m from a high-voltage power line, and no risk for those living further away than 100 m from such a line.

 $0.1 \le 0.19$ > 0.2Magnetic field (μT) ≤ 0.09 1 4.3 3.5Risk ratio 51-100 m Distance from line (m) $\geq 101 \text{ m}$ $\leq 50 \text{ m}$ 2.91 1.1Risk ratio

 Table 3. Risk Ratio (Leukemia) near 220- and 400-kV Power Lines with Magnetic Field

 and Distance as Variables*

*Adapted from Tables 7 and 8 in Feychting and Ahlbom [9]

Table 4. Ranges of Magnetic and Electric Field near 200- and 400-kVPower Lines as Obtained from Table 2

Distance from line (m)	≥ 100 m	100–50 m	50–10 m
Range of magnetic field (μT)	0.0014-0.072	0.036-0.204	0.102 - 7.12
Range of electric field (V/m)	0.412-21.6	10.8-61.6	30.8-2140

Since the power lines in Sweden are described by Feychting and Ahlbom [9] as all quite similar and not subject to large fluctuations in load, their electromagnetic fields should be quite well approximated by the field of a reasonably well-matched line with traveling waves of current and voltage. In this case, the electric field can be obtained from the magnetic field from the simple relations $E_z = cB_y$, $E_y = -cB_z$. Since the electric field parallel to the length of a human body induces axial currents that are much larger than the circulating currents induced by the transverse magnetic field, it should be the preferred metric. This choice is virtually mandated by the fact that axial current densities and electric fields in the organs of the body are quite simply related to the external power-line electric field, whereas this is not true of the circulating current densities and electric fields.

In a study by Bren [10], the conclusion is reached that "until a rigorous exposure metric is developed, the results of epidemiological findings will be difficult to interpret." To the extent that the magnetic fields calculated by Feychting and Ahlbom [9] can be related to the associated electric fields, such a metric can be established. This follows because the axial current induced in the exposed human body can be determined and from this the electric field that acts at the cellular level in the lymph nodes and spleen, where the white-blood corpuscles involved in lymphocitic leukemia are made.

Epidemiological studies comparing the strong VLF exposure of residents of Annapolis, MD and its surroundings with residents of cities far from such high-power transmitters are unavailable. The same appears to be true of exposure to the fields of hand-held radio transceivers.

With the possible exception of the work of Feychting and Ahlbom [9], available epidemiological studies do not appear to provide satisfactory exposure situations to be useful in locating credible data associated with cellular non-thermal effects of exposure to electromagnetic fields.

3.2.2. In Vivo Studies of Exposure of Laboratory Animals to Electromagnetic Fields

The study of the effect of electromagnetic fields on living laboratory animals has many advantages over the corresponding studies on human beings. Notably, the individual specimens can be chosen for uniformity and the electromagnetic environment can be selected, maintained, and varied accurately and at will, so that the exposure situations are precise. However, to carry out identical exposure on a sufficient number of specimens and simultaneously maintain an equal number of controls is difficult and costly and has not been carried out. Carstensen's review [8] of the possible carcinogenic effect of exposure to magnetic fields indicates as many negative or inconclusive results as positive ones. Magnetic fields ranging from 0.1 μ T to 0.1 T were used with no evident increase in positive results with increasing field strength. However, the postulate that stronger field exposure must exhibit greater effects is not necessarily applicable to nonlinear phenomena like those at the cellular level. Furthermore, exposure to magnetic fields induces only circulating electric fields and currents which are zero in a plane across the center of the body and increase linearly outward. As

shown in King and Wu [1], this maximum at the surface of the body is given by

$$\sigma_1 E_{1\theta}(\pm a_1, y', z) = J_{1\theta}(\pm a_1, y', z) = \frac{\imath \omega a_1 \sigma_1}{2} B_{0y}^{\text{inc}}(0, y', z),$$

where σ_1 is the conductivity of the body and a_1 is its mean radius at the particular cross section defined by z. Since the cross section of a mouse is approximately 2 cm in diameter and that of a man 30 cm, the induced current density and electric field in a mouse are 1/15 those in a man. In order to induce the same electric field and current density, the applied magnetic field must be 15 times that applied to a man. Since the magnetic field of a 200– 400-kV traveling-wave power line at a distance of 10 m is $B_y^{\rm inc} = 3.56 \ \mu\text{T}$, the field applied to the mouse should be 53.4 μT .

Exposure to axial electric fields requires no scaling when the ratio of length to mean cross-sectional radius of an animal and a man are approximately equal. The formula for the axial current density in a body parallel to the incident electric field $E_s^{\rm inc}$ is

$$J_s(s) = rac{I_s(0)}{\pi a_1^2} \Big(1 - rac{s^2}{h^2} \Big),$$

where

$$I_s(0)=rac{2\pi}{\zeta_0\Psi}\,k_0h^2E^{
m inc}_s.$$

Here, a_1 is the mean radius and h is the half-length of the body. The parameter Ψ depends only on the ratio h/a_1 . If the ratio h/a_1 is the same for a man and an animal, it follows with

$$J_s(s)=rac{2\pi}{\zeta_0\Psi}rac{h^2}{\pi a^2}rac{2\pi f}{c} E^{ ext{inc}}_s \quad ext{and} \quad E_s(s)=rac{J_s(s)}{\sigma_1},$$

that

$$\frac{\left[J_s(s)\right]_H}{\left[J_s(s)\right]_A} = \frac{f_H E_{sH}^{\text{inc}}}{f_A E_{sA}^{\text{inc}}} = \frac{\left[E_s(s)\right]_H}{\left[E_s(s)\right]_A},$$

where the subscript A refers to an animal and the subscript H to a human body. When exposed to electric fields at the same frequency, the current densities will be the same when the electric fields are the same. This means that no scaling is required: the same axial fields induce the same axial current densities and axial electric fields in the body of the man and the body of the animal. This is true when the ratio $[h/a_1]_H = [h/a_1]_A$ and σ_1 is the same in both. Since *in vivo* experiments with living animals do not seem to have been made with a clear understanding that the large axial electric field in the body is also important in studying cellular effects in internal organs of the body and that scaling for its effects is different from scaling for the corresponding effects of the transverse magnetic field, it is at present difficult to establish useful exposure situations for the formulation of safety guidelines for cellular effects.

3.2.3. In Vitro Studies at the Cellular Level

Extensive research at the cellular level is carried out by exposing tissues and cells in a suitable vessel to magnetic and electric fields. The cells are, of course, not in exactly the same biological environment as when surrounded by a living body, but this is reasonably well approximated. The electromagnetic environment in the sense of exposure to a known macroscopic average field can be very similar. Summaries and discussions of significant results are contained in reviews by Nair, Morgan, and Florig [11], Wood [12], Gandhi [13], and Liburdy [7]. These indicate that an applied electric field or an induced electric field generated by an applied magnetic field can influence a number of cell-membrane-associated processes. Examples are: (a) The enhancement of breast-cancer-cell proliferation by blocking melatonium's action on cell growth by exposure to a 60-Hz magnetic field in the range from 2 to 12 mG = 0.2 to 1.2 μ T. (b) Increased activity of human lymphoma CEM cells when exposed to a 60-Hz electric field in the range from 1 mV/m to 1 V/m. (c) An increase in human lymphocitic-derived HL-60 cell line by exposure to a 60-Hz magnetic field in the range from 5.7 mG to 5.7 G = 0.57 μ T to 0.57 mT. The induced electric field is in the range from 1.1 μ V/m to 1.1 mV/m. The same effect was observed with an applied electric field of 30 μ V/m. (d) A 60-Hz magnetic field of 220 G—generating an induced electric field with maximum of 0.1 V/m—increased calcium-45 influx during signal transduction in the lymphocyte by 50 to 200%. A 60-Hz electric field of 0.17 V/m enhanced the steady-state level of calcium influx. (e) A 30-300-Hz electric field of 0.1 mV/m to 0.1 V/m with a current density J = 0.05 to 50 mA/cm² affected ion movement through the cell membrane.

These and other experimental results appear to present a reasonable basis for the use of

in vitro measurements in the establishment of meaningful exposure situations. The problem is: What is the relationship between the average macroscopic electric field in an organ of the human body that corresponds to the field applied to cells in an exposure vessel? As pointed out in detail by Polk [14], the electric field and current density generated in a particular organ in the human body when this is exposed to an incident magnetic field are very difficult to determine. This is a consequence of the fact that the electric fields and currents induced by a magnetic field circulate in the body with amplitudes and directions that depend on the distance from the central plane through the body perpendicular to the incident magnetic field. As shown by King and Wu [1], this difficulty does not exist for the axial electric field and current density in the human body when its length is parallel to the large component of the incident electric field. Specifically, as shown by King and Sandler [2], the axial electric field and current density in the spleen of a boy standing near a power line where the vertical electric field is $E_z^{\rm inc} = 530$ V/m are, respectively, $|E_z^{\rm spleen}| = 0.41$ mV/m and $|J_z^{\text{spleen}}| = 74.2 \ \mu\text{A/m}^2$; the axial electric field and current density in the bone marrow in a boy's leg when standing in the same location are $|E_z^{\text{marrow}}| = 0.63 \text{ mV/m}$ and $|J_z^{\text{marrow}}| = 216.5 \ \mu\text{A/m}^2$. These electric fields are the time-average axial electric fields in these organs. They should correspond to electric fields applied across cellular material in exposure dishes provided these are made of styrofoam. Since they have the same order of magnitude as those listed above that have been observed to affect cellular processes, they would seem to offer a useful exposure situation in the ELF range of frequencies.

In vitro studies of the effect of exposure to electromagnetic fields in the VLF range of frequencies do not appear to have been carried out in any extensive manner. Exposure situations closely paralleling those at 60 Hz are readily constructed, but adequate data on observed effects are not available.

In vitro studies at frequencies in the range of 0.1 to 10 GHz are extensive and clearly indicate significant cellular effects from exposure to electromagnetic fields. These are described in summary form in Gandhi [13]. Specifically reviewed are effects of exposure of erythrocytes, leukocytes, and brain and neural cells to electromagnetic fields. The results indicate both frequency and amplitude dependence. The applied incident electric fields ranged from 2 V/m to 2 kV/m.¹ From King [4], the electric field in the brain (Region 2) due to a handheld cellular-telephone transceiver with current I = 0.1 A in its antenna is of the order $67.8 \exp[-\alpha_2(z-d)]$, where $\alpha_2 = 34.5 \text{ m}^{-1}$ for $\epsilon_{2r} = 51$ and $\sigma_2 = 1.35 \text{ S/m}$. The field in the brain at distances z - d from the inside surface of the skull (Region 1, thickness d = 1 cm) has the values [4]:

z-d, cm	0	1	4	6	11
$ E_x , V/m$	67.8	48	17.2	8.6	2.64

The macroscopic average electric field maintained in the brain when the head is exposed to the electromagnetic field of a hand-held radiotelephone antenna is seen to have the same order of magnitude as the fields that produced significant effects on cellular processes in *in vitro* studies. This suggests that a meaningful exposure situation could be identified, but this would require careful coordination of electric fields in the brain due to a hand-held cellular telephone and fields applied *in vitro* at 0.9 GHz. The latter are not available.

3.3. Exposure Situations and Suggested Guidelines

Suggested exposure guidelines will be based on the electric field generated in the organs of the human body when exposed to a known incident electric field parallel to its length. The intensity of this field which poses a potential hazard is postulated to be equal to or greater than that electric field that produces significant cellular effects *in vitro*.

¹Much of the exposure data in the 0.1- to 10-GHz range is expressed in terms of the power dissipated as heat per unit mass or the specific absorption rates (SAR). This is meaningful for thermal effects, but is not appropriate for electric-field-dependent cellular effects. The SAR is expressed in units of watts per kilogram and is related to the electric field by the formula SAR(W/kg) = $\sigma E^2/d$, where σ is the real effective conductivity of the medium, d is its mass density, and E is the r.m.s. value of the electric field in the medium. For media that are saturated with water, d is close to 1000 kg/m³ or 1 g/cm³. The conductivity σ varies with the tissue and frequency, as shown in Table 6.1 in Gandhi [13]. For nerves and the brain at 300 MHz, it has the value $\sigma = 0.65$ S/m. It follows that, for example, 44 V/m is equivalent to SAR = $0.65 \times (44)^2/1000 = 1.25$ W/kg. Gandhi [13, p. 248] writes: "The data currently available on the relation of SAR to biological effect shows evidence for biological effects at an SAR of about 1 W/kg."

3.3.1. The ELF Range of Frequencies

In vitro exposure of cellular material to electric fields at 60 Hz indicates that significant effects were observed when $E_z \geq 30 \ \mu\text{V/m}$. The vertical electric field in the spleen of a boy with rubber-soled shoes standing 10 m from a 100-kV power line where the electric field is $E_z^{\text{inc}} = 530 \text{ V/m}$ is $|E_z^{\text{spleen}}| = 412 \ \mu\text{V/m}$. At a distance of 45 m, the incident field is reduced to $E_z^{\text{inc}} \sim 38 \ \text{V/m}$, and the field in the spleen drops to $|E_z^{\text{spleen}}| \sim 30 \ \mu\text{V/m}$. This suggests that for this power line, people should live further away than 45 m where $E_z^{\text{inc}} = 38 \ \text{V/m}$. The associated magnetic field for a traveling-wave power line is $B_y^{\text{inc}} = 0.127 \ \mu\text{T}$. These conclusions agree with the epidemiological results for childhood leukemia which indicated distances greater than 50 m for 220–400-kV power lines.

3.3.2. The VLF Range of Frequencies

In the VLF range, there are no exposure situations for which measured *in vitro* effects are available. If the same electric field in the organs of the body as for the ELF range is used, the incident electric field should be less than 20 V/m, the magnetic field less than 0.005 μ T = 0.05 mG. People should not live within 1 km of a typical high-power VLF transmitter.

3.3.3. Cellular-Telephone Frequencies

In vitro exposure of brain-cell material in the 0.1–10-GHz range of frequencies shows significant effects when the applied electric field is 44 V/m. A safe value could be set at 4.4 V/m. This means that, for the model of a cellular-telephone antenna at f = 0.9 GHz analytically studied [4], most of the brain beyond the skull is exposed to possibly hazardous fields. Since measurements specifically at 0.9 GHz are unavailable and effects may depend on the frequency, more precise conclusions cannot be reached.

4. Discussion of EM Radiation Standards

4.1. Relation to Known Effects

A review of EM radiation standards was carried out, and the effects of EM fields on humans as reported in the extensive literature on the subject were studied. Emphasis was placed on separating studies on thermal effects from those on non-thermal effects. It was noted that the vast majority of standards and measurements seem to be directed toward the determination of whole-body and localized heating by exposure to EM fields. It is not obvious how thermal standards can be applied in a meaningful manner to non-thermal effects.

An excellent summary of radiofrequency exposure standards can be found in the book by Gandhi [13]. Of particular interest are the ANSI, IEEE and IRPA standards. These standards are mainly concerned with heating effects at high frequencies, although maximum electric and magnetic field strengths are given down to 10 kHz. Some field limits for powerline frequencies are given by Nair *et al.* [11].

Although there are perhaps hundreds of papers on the biological effects of EM fields, two important sources are the book by Polk and Postow [15] and the recent paper by Wood [12]. Work here and overseas indicates that at low frequencies, leukemia has been found in exposed children and adults, and is definitely a concern. At much higher frequencies, many of the biological results are contradictory or inconclusive. In addition, the results of many of the studies are based on laboratory results on cells, and it is difficult to extrapolate the effects to the case of humans.

Standard-setting organizations generally use an SAR (Specific Absorption Rate) of 4 W/kg, averaged over the whole body, as a level at which health effects may take place in humans. This SAR is about 2.5 times the resting energy production rate of the human body. Other researchers, such as Elder and Cahill [16], say that there is evidence that biological effects can occur at an SAR of about 1 W/kg.

4.2. Suggestions for Setting Up Standards

It is important to have some quantitative basis for determining radiation exposure levels with regard to available safety standards and credible research studies. Based on some representative cases, actual fields and currents in the body can be determined. The generic cases under consideration are fields in the body due to: 1) 60-Hz power lines; 2) closely coupled cellular telephones in the 900-MHz region; and 3) the Navy submarine communication system in the 28-kHz region. Actual EM levels found in the body in the various frequency ranges can be compared to levels that have produced biological effects.

The six components of the electromagnetic field generated by a traveling wave in a three-phase, three-wire, high-voltage power line over a finitely conducting earth have been determined analytically. The currents induced in the body of a man standing under or near such a power line consist of two parts. The first is the axial current induced by the transversely constant part of the vertical component of the electric field and the associated differential part of the transverse magnetic field. The second part is the circulating current induced by the vertically constant part of the horizontal magnetic field and the associated differential part of the vertical electric field. The second part is determined from the integral equation for an electrically short parasitic antenna; the circulating current is obtained from an integral form of the Maxwell equation $\nabla \times \mathbf{E} = i\omega \mathbf{B}$. The analytically determined currents are shown to be in good agreement with those obtained using the FDTD method. From the total axial current, the current and power densities in different organs in the body can be determined if the shapes, sizes and conductivities of these are known in each cross section. This has been accomplished for a cross section of the human body which includes the spleen and liver.

Possible adverse effects of electromagnetic fields on the human body and especially on the nervous system and the brain are of increasing concern, particularly with reference to cellular telephone transceivers held close to the head. An essential step in the study of this problem is the accurate determination of the complete electromagnetic field penetrating through the skull into the brain. Simple analytical formulas are derived from the theory of the horizontal electric dipole over a layered region. These give the components of the electric and magnetic fields on the air-head surface, in the skin-skull layer, and throughout the brain in terms of a planar model with the dimensions and average electrical properties of the human head. The specific absorption rate (SAR) is also determined.

The VLF antenna in Annapolis, MD, is located on a peninsula between the Severn River and Chesapeake Bay. It consists of a central, base-insulated tower 1200-ft high and an extensive top load of wire panels that are supported by 600-ft towers. Six of these surround the central tower symmetrically, while three others provide a large extension to the tip of the peninsula. The central tower is driven by a transmitter located several hundred feet from its base. There are three leads from the 300-, 600-, and 900-ft levels of the central tower to the transmitter, where they join in parallel. The antenna is driven against a radial wire ground network buried under most of the area under the top load. Outside of this area, the entire antenna acts like a simple top-loaded, electrically short monopole.

The electromagnetic field maintained by the VLF transmitter at Annapolis induces currents and fields in people living in the urban area within 2 km of the antenna that are greater than those in people living very close to high-voltage power lines. Neither are large enough to have health-related thermal effects, but possibly hazardous non-thermal effects have not been ruled out.

The conclusion of the investigations in this report is that meaningful standards for EM exposure have not been identified. A number of specific exposure situations were investigated in this report where fields were calculated in different parts inside the body, such as the brain or the organs in the stomach. Not available are the experiments that use known exposure fields to find cellular effects *in vitro*. There is also the question of what the correct metric for exposure is. Many researchers use the magnetic field as separate from the electric field values as the metric at low frequencies. However, a more important exposure field is due to the larger longitudinal fields produced in the body by a tangential electric field.

Basic coordination of known field levels in the body and cellular effects has not been carried out. A reasonable approach would require that the physical and biological researchers work together in a unified approach. On the one hand, researchers would calculate internal fields and fields at the cellular level. Based on these fields, hazardous levels could be identified by biologists. Presently, it does not appear that there is much cooperative work taking place. However, interdisciplinary interface, where communication is possible between, for example, electrical engineers and cell biologists, can lead to meaningful EM standards.

5. Conclusions and Recommendations

The investigations carried out under the present program have led to the following conclusions (see also the discussion on setting up standards in Section 3.2 of this report).

- 1. Meaningful standards for EM exposure are not presently available.
- 2. EM radiation exposures cannot be done in general, since they require specific physical and EM information.
- 3. Biological effects of EM radiation cannot be used for setting up standards if the *local* fields inside the body or in cells are not known. A method for determining these fields from external fields is given in [2], which is included in Appendix B. Presently, only *external* fields are used for purposes of standard setting.
- 4. Simple analytical expressions for fields in the organs of the body are required, which include the dependence on relevant parameters and the direction and magnitude of external fields. Although computational methods are valid, they are complicated and do not give a wide insight into the phenomena. Furthermore, without a knowledge of the field dependence on physical parameters, such as size and frequency, proper scaling is not possible.

Recommendations based on the work in this report are given below:

- Some meaningful biological effects of EM radiation have been identified in this report, such as leukemia in children near high-power lines, and brain-cell effects in the 0.1– 10 GHz range. As experiments become more refined, additional effects will become known. A review of additional effects should be made in a 3–5-year time period.
- 2. Since EM biological effects can be long-term, some effort should be made to continuously record local EM fields (magnitude and direction) near exposed personnel.
- 3. One area of investigation that is important appeared in the investigation process. It concerns (a) the calculation of local EM fields across cell membranes and along nerves

and (b) their effect on cell growth and on nerve transmission. This area of research should be explored.

4. The communication band extending from 70–144 MHz was not included in the present study. Here the body length can be of the order of a wavelength, skin effect is significant, and resonance is possible (see the discussion in Section 2.4 of this report). An effort should be undertaken to relate the fields, total current, and current densities inside the body to the external field for this frequency range.

6. Bibliography

6.1. References Cited in Report (Important references marked with asterisk)

- King, R. W. P., and Wu, T. T., "The complete electromagnetic field of a three-phase transmission line over the earth and its interaction with the human body," J. Appl. Phys., 78, 668-683, 1995.
- [2] *King, R. W. P., and Sandler, S. S., "Electric fields and currents induced in organs of human body when exposed to ELF and VLF electromagnetic fields," *Radio Sci.* 31, 1153–1167, 1996.
- [3] King, R. W. P., and Harrison, Jr., C. W., "Electromagnetic field in human body due to VLF transmitter," pp. 121–123 in *Proceedings of the 1995 IEEE 21st Annual Northeast Bioengineering Conference*, S. Wolpert, D. H. Brooks, and J. R. LaCourse, Eds., IEEE Service Center, Piscataway, NJ, 1995.
- [4] King, R. W. P., "The electromagnetic field generated in model of human head by simplified telephone transceiver," *Radio Sci.* 30, 267–281, 1995.
- [5] King, R. W. P., The Theory of Linear Antennas, Harvard Univ. Press, Cambridge, MA, 1956.

- [6] King, R. W. P., and Smith, G. S., Antennas in Matter, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, 1981.
- [7] *Liburdy, R. F., "Cellular studies and interaction mechanisms of extremely lowfrequency fields," *Radio Sci.* 30, 179–203, 1995.
- [8] Carstensen, E. L., "Magnetic fields and cancer," IEEE Eng. in Medicine and Biology Magazine 14, 362-369, 1995.
- [9] Feychting, M., and Ahlbom, A., "Magnetic fields and cancer in children residing near Swedish high-voltage power lines," Am. J. Epidemiol. 138, 467–481, 1993.
- [10] Bren, S. P. A., "60 Hz EMF health effects—a scientific uncertainty," IEEE Eng. in Medicine and Biology Magazine 14, 370–374, 1995.
- [11] Nair, I., Morgan, M. G., and Florig, K. H., Biological Effects of Power Frequency Electric and Magnetic Fields—Background Paper, U.S. Congress Office of Technology Assessment, OTA-BP-E-53, U. S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC, May 1989.
- [12] Wood, A. W., "Possible health effects of 50/60 Hz electric and magnetic fields: Review of proposed mechanisms," Australasian Phys. & Eng. Sciences in Medicine 16, 1-21, 1993.
- [13] *Gandhi, O. P., Ed., Biological Effects and Medical Applications of Electromagnetic Energy, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1990.
- [14] *Polk, C., "Dosimetry of extremely-low-frequency magnetic fields," *Bioelectromagnetics* Supplement 1, 209–235, 1992.
- [15] *Polk, C., and Postow, E., CRC Handbook of Biological Effects of Electromagnetic Fields, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1985.
- [16] *Elder, J. A., and Cahill, D. F., "Biological effects of radiofrequency radiation," EPA Report No. EPA-600/8-83-026F, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Research Triangle Park, NC 27711, 1984.

6.2. Additional References (Taken from Wood [12])

- Adair, R. K., "Constraints on biological effects of weak extremely low frequency electromagnetic fields," *Phys. Rev. A* 43, 1039–1044, 1991.
- Adair, R. K., "Criticism of Lednev's mechanism for the influence of weak magnetic fields on biological systems," *Bioelectromag.* 13, 231–235, 1992.
- Adey, W. R., "Tissue interactions with nonionizing electromagnetic fields," *Physiol. Rev.* **61**, 435–514, 1981.
- Adey, W. R., "Biological effects of radiofrequency radiation," pp. 109–140 in *Electromagnetic Interaction with Biological Systems*, Lin, J. C., Ed., Plenum, NY, 1989.
- Adey, W. R., and Sheppard, A. R., "Cell surface ionic phenomena in transmembrane signalling to intracellular enzyme systems," in *Mechanistic Approaches to Interactions of Electric and Electromagnetic Fields with Living Systems*, Blank, M., and Findl, E., Eds., Plenum, NY, 1987.
- Aho, A. C., Donner, K., et al., "Low retinal noise in animals with low body temperature allows high visual sensitivity," *Nature* **334**, 348, 1988.
- Albert, A., Slaby, F., et al., "Effect of amplitude modulated 147 MHz radiofrequency radiation on calcium ion efflux from avian brain tissue," Radiat. Res. 109, 19–27, 1987.
- Albert, E., Blackman, C. F., and Slaby, F., "Calcium dependent secretory protein release and calcium efflux during RF irradiation of rat pancreatic tissue slices," pp. 325–329 in Ondes Electromagnetiques et Biologie, Berteau, A. J., and Servantie, B., Eds., Paris, 1980.
- Aspen, H., "Power lines, cancer and cyclotron resonance," *Electron World Wireless World* 97, 774–775, 1991.
- Barnes, F., "Possible mechanism by which biological systems can separate coherent signals from noise," 1st World Congress for Electricity and Magnetism in Biology and Medicine, Lake Buena Vista, FL, Abstract Book, p. 47, 1992.
- Barnes, F. S., and Seyed-Madani, M., "Some possible limits on the minimum electrical signals of biological significance," p. 339 in Mechanistic Approaches to Interactions of Electric and Electromagnetic Fields with Living Systems, Blank, M., and Findl, E., Eds., Plenum, NY,

1987.

- Bassett, C. A. L., "Fundamental and practical aspects of therapeutic uses of pulsed electromagnetic fields (PEMFs)," Crit, Revs, Biomed, Engrg. 17, 451–529, 1989.
- Berman, E., "The developmental effects of pulsed magnetic fields on animal embryos," Reprod. Toxicol. 4, 45–49, 1990.
- Blackman, C. F., Benane, S. G., *et al.*, "A role for the magnetic field in the radiation induced efflux of calcium ions from brain tissue in vitro," *Bioelectromag.* **6**, 1–11, 1985.
- Blackman, C. F., Benane, S. G., et al., "Influence of electromagnetic fields on the efflux of calcium ions from brain tissue in vitro: a three-model analysis consistent with the frequency response up to 510 Hz," *Bioelectromag.* 9, 215–228, 1988.
- Blank, M., Soo, L., et al., "Stimulation of transcription in HL60 cells by alternating currents from electric fields," Dept. of Energy Annual Review of Research on Biological Effects of 50 and 60 Hz Electric and Magnetic Fields, Project Resumes A-19, 1991.
- Bockman, R., "The effects of power frequency electric and magnetic fields on the endocrine and immune systems," Report submitted to U.S. Environmental Protection Agency on behalf of Electric Utility Health Science Committee, 1990.
- Borgens, R. B., Vanable, J. W., and Jaffe, L. F., "Bioelectricity and regeneration: large currents leave the stumps of regenerating newt limbs," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 74, 4528, 1977.
- Bowman, J. D., Thomas, D. C., and Peters, J. M., "The risk of childhood leukemia from home exposure to resonances from static and power frequency magnetic fields," USA Dept. of Energy Annual Contractors' Review, p. A-40, 1991.
- Byus, C. V., Pieper, S., and Adey, W. R., "The effect of environmentally significant lowenergy 60 Hz electromagnetic fields upon the cancer-related enzyme ornithine decarboxylase," *Carcinogenesis* 8, 1385–1389, 1987.
- Carstensen, E. L., Biological Effects of Transmission Line Fields, Elsevier, New York, 189– 202, 1987.
- Chiabrera, A., and Bianco, B., "The role of the magnetic field in the EM interaction with

ligand binding," pp. 79–95 in Mechanistic Approaches to Interactions of Electric and Electromagnetic Fields with Living systems, Blank, M., and Findl, E., Eds., Plenum, NY, 1987.

- Chuang, H. R., and Chen, K. M., "A numerical method for the computation of induced currents inside 3-D heterogeneous biological bodies by ELF-LF electric fields," *IEEE Trans. BME* 36, 628–634, 1989.
- Claustrat, B., et al., "Melatonin in humans: neuroendocrinological and pharmacological aspects," Nucl. Med. Biol. 17, 625–632, 1990.
- Davis, R. L., and Milham, S., "Altered immune status in aluminum reduction plant workers," Am. J. Indust. Med. 18, 79–85, 1990.
- Demers, P. A., Thomas, D. B., et al., "Occupational exposure to electromagnetic fields and breast cancer in men," Am. J. Epidemiol. 134, 340-347, 1991.
- Dimbylow, P. J., "Finite difference calculations of current densities in a homogeneous model of a man exposed to extremely low frequency electric fields," *Bioelectromag.* 8, 355–375, 1987.
- Doll, R., and Peto, R., The Causes of Cancer, Oxford Univ. Press, Oxford, UK, 1981, pp. 1220-1251.
- Dudel, J., "Neurobiophysics," p. 647 in *Biophysics*, Hoppe, W., Lohmann, W., et al., Eds., Springer, Berlin, 1983.
- Dutta, S. K., Subramonium, A., et al., "Microwave radiation induced calcium ion efflux from human neuroblastoma cells in culture," *Bioelectromag.* 5, 71–78, 1984.
- Fishman, H. M., "On the responsiveness of elasmobranch fishes to weak electric fields," pp. 431–436 in Mechanistic Approaches to Interactions of Electric and Electromagnetic Fields with Living Systems, Blank, M., and Findl, E., Eds., Plenum, NY, 1987.
- Foster, K. R., and Schwan, H. P., "Dielectric properties of tissues," pp. 27–96 in Handbook of Biological Effects of Electromagnetic Radiation, Polk, C., and Postow, E., Eds., CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1986.
- Franceschetti, G., and Pinto, I., "Cell membrane nonlinear response to an applied electromagnetic field," *IEEE Trans. MTT* 32, 653–658, 1984.

- Frohlich, H., "Long-range coherence and energy storage in biological systems," Int. J. Quant. Chem. 2, 641–649, 1968.
- Frohlich, H., "The biological effects of microwaves and related questions," Adv. Electronics Electron. Phys. 53, 85–152, 1980.
- Geddes, L. A., Baker, L. E., Principles of Applied Biomedical Instrumentation, 3d edition, Wiley, New York, 1989.
- Goodman, R., Wei, L. X., et al., "Exposure of human cells to low-frequency electromagnetic fields results in quantitative changes in transcripts," *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* 1009, 216– 220, 1989.
- Graham, C., Cohen, H. D., et al., "Individual differences in cardiac responsivity to 60 Hz fields," Dept. of Energy Annual Review of Research on Biological Effects of 50 and 60 Hz Electric and Magnetic Fields, Project Resumes A-33, 1991.
- Grand, D. A., Magee, F. P., et al., "The effect of low energy combined AC and DC magnetic fields on articular cartilage metabolism," Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 635, 404–407, 1991.
- Graves, H. B., et al., "Effects of 60 Hz electric fields on embryo and chick development, growth and behavior," Final Report: Electric Power Research Institute, 1985.
- Grundler, W., "Frequency-dependent biological effects of low intensity microwaves," in Interactions Between Electromagnetic Fields and Cells, Chiabrera, A., Nicolini, C., et al., Eds., NATO ASI Series 97A, Plenum, NY, 1985.
- Gunderson, R., Greenbaum, B., and Goodman, E., "Effects of 60 Hz electromagnetic fields on calcium efflux and neurotransmitter release," Final Report to New York Power Lines Project, Appendix 5, Wadsworth Center, Albany, NY, 1986.
- Gupta, P., Atanasio, A., and Reiter, R. J., *The pineal gland and cancer*, Brain Research Promotions, Tubingen, 1988.
- Gupta, T., Jain, V., and Tandon, P., "Comparative study of bone growth by pulsed magnetic fields," Med. Biol. Engrg. Comput. 29, 113–120, 1991.
- Hahn, R. A., "Profound bilateral blindness and the incidence of breast cancer," *Epidemiology* 2, 208-210, 1991.

- Henshaw, D. L., Eatough, J. P., and Richardson, R. B., "Radon as a causative factor in induction of myeloid leukemia and other cancers," *Epidemiology* **335**, 1008–1012, 1990.
- Hill, D. G., Gillette, L. M., et al., "Radon measurement in the Back to Denver Project," Bioelectromag. Soc. 13th Ann. Mtg. Abstract Book, p. 59, 1991.
- Hill, S. M., and Blask, D. E., "Effects of the pineal hormone melatonin on the proliferation and morphological characteristics of human breast cancer cells (MCF-7) in culture," *Cancer Res.* 48, 6121–6126, 1988.
- Illingsworth, C. M., "Measurements of electrical currents emerging during the regeneration of amputated finger tips in children," *Clin. Phys. Physiol. Meas.* 1, 87–89, 1980.
- Juutilainen, J. P., Laara, E., and Salli, K., "Relationship between field strength and abnormal development in chick embryos exposed to 50 Hz magnetic fields," Int. J. Radiat. Biol. 52, 787–793, 1987.
- Katsuki, Y., Receptive Mechanisms for Sound in the Ear, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, UK, 1982.
- Katz, B., Nerve Muscle and Synapse, McGraw-Hill, NY, 1966.
- Kaune, R. T., and Phillips, R. D., "Comparison of the coupling of grounded humans, swine and rats to vertical 60 Hz electric fields," *Bioelectromag.* 1, 117–130 1980.
- Kavet, R., and Silva, J. M., "An alternative hypothesis for association between distribution wiring configurations and cancer: planning phase," Electric Power Res. Inst. EN-6863, EPRI, Palo Alto, CA, 1990.
- Kirschvink, J., and Woodford, B. J., "Superparamagnetism in the human brain," *Bioelectromag. Soc. 13th Ann. Mtg. Abstract Book*, p. 80, 1991.
- Kirschvink, J., Kobayashi-Kirschvink, A., and Boodford, B. J., "Magnetite biomineralization in the human brain," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 89, 7683–7687, 1992.
- Koch, W. E., and Koch, B. A., "Exposure of chicken embryos to selected magnetic fields,"J. Bioelectricity 10, 56-80, 1991.
- Lednev, V. V., "Possible mechanism for the influence of weak magnetic fields on biological systems," *Bioelectromag.* 12, 72–75, 1991.

- Lee, Q. P., Guy, A. W., et al., "The effects of modulated radiofrequency radiation on calcium efflux from chick brains in vitro," *Bioelectromag. Soc. 9th Ann. Mtg. Abstract Book*, p. 10, 1987.
- Lerchl, A., Nonska, K. O., and Reiter, R. J., "Pineal gland 'magnetosensitivity' to static magnetic fields is a consequence of induced electric currents (eddy currents)," J. Pineal Res. 10, 109–116, 1991.
- Lerchl, A., Reiter, R. J., et al., "Evidence that extremely low frequency Ca²⁺-cyclotron resonance depresses pineal melatonin synthesis in vitro," Neurosci. Lett. 124, 213–215, 1991.
- Liboff, A. R., and Parkinson, W. C., "Search for ion-cyclotron resonance in an Na⁺ transport system," *Bioelectromag* **12**, 77–83, 1991.
- Liboff, A. R., Rozek, R. J., et al., "Ca²⁺-45 cyclotron resonance in human lymphocytes," J. Bioelect. 6, 13–22, 1987.
- Liburdy, R. P., Yost, M. G., and de Manincor, D. J., "Signal transduction in the lymphocyte: comparison of 60 Hz magnetic fields and combinations of AC/DC magnetic fields on mitogen-activated calcium influx," Dept. of Energy Annual Review of Research on Biological Effects of 50 and 60 Hz Electric and Magnetic Fields, Project Resumes A-2, 1991.
- Lin, R. S., Dischinger, P. C., et al., "Occupational exposure to electromagnetic fields and the occurrence of brain tumours," J. Occup. Med. 27, 413-419, 1985.
- Litovitz, T. A., Montrose, C. J., et al., "Amplitude windows and transiently augmented transcription from exposure to electromagnetic fields," *Bioelectromag.* 11, 297–312, 1990.
- London, S. J., Thomas, D. C., et al., "Exposure to residential electric and magnetic fields and risk of childhood leukemia," Am. J. Epidemiol. 134, 923–937, 1991.
- Loomis, D. P., and Savitz, D. A., "Brain cancer and leukemia mortality among electrical workers," Am. J. Epidemiol. 130, 814, 1990.
- Loomis, D. P., and Savitz, D. A., "Mortality from brain cancer and leukemia among electrical workers," Br. J. Indust. Med. 47, 633–638, 1990.

- Lovsund, P., Oberg, P. A., et al., "Magnetophosphenes: a quantitative analysis of thresholds," Med. Biol. Engrg. Comput. 18, 326-334, 1980.
- Lovsund, P., Oberg, P. A., and Nilsson, S. E. G., "ELF magnetic fields in electrosteel and welding industries," *Radio Sci.* 17, 35–38S, 1982.
- Lyle, D. B., Ayotte, R. D., et al., "Suppression of T-lymphocyte toxicity following exposure to 60 Hz sinusoidal electric fields," *Bioelectromag.* 9, 303–313, 1988.
- Lyle, D. B., Wang, X., et al., "Calcium uptake by leukemic and normal T-lymphocytes exposed to low frequency magnetic fields," *Bioelectromag.* **12**, 145–156, 1991.
- Mack, W., Preston-Martin, S., and Peters, J. M., "Astrocytoma risk related to job exposure to electric and magnetic fields," *Bioelectromag.* **12**, 57–66, 1991.
- MacLauchlan, K. A., and Steiner, U. E., "The spin correlated radical pair as a reaction intermediate," *Molec. Phys.* **73**, 241–263, 1991.
- Male, J. C., and Edmonds, D. T., "Ion vibration recession: a model for resonant biological interactions with ELF fields," *Bioelectromag. Soc. 12th Ann. Mtg. Abstract Book*, p. 98, 1990.
- Martin, A. H., "Development of chicken embryos following exposure to 60 Hz magnetic fields with differing waveforms," *Bioelectromag.* 13, 223–230, 1992.
- Matanoski, G. M., Breysse, E. A., and Elliot, E. A., "Electromagnetic field exposure and male breast cancer," *Lancet* 337, 737, 1991.
- McLean, J. R. N., Stuchly, M. A., et al., "Cancer promotion in a mouse-skin model by a 60 Hz magnetic field: tumor development and immune response," *Bioelectromag.* 5, 273–287, 1991.
- McLeod, B. R., and Liboff, A. R., "Kinetics of channelized membrane ions in magnetic fields," *Bioelectromag.* 9, 39–51, 1988.
- Michaelson, S. M., "Household magnetic fields and childhood leukemia: a critical analysis," *Pediatrics* 88, 630–635, 1991.
- Miller, D. L., "Miniaturized probe measurements of electric fields induced in chicken eggs by a 60 Hz magnetic field," *Bioelectromag. Soc. 13th Ann. Mtg. Abstract Book*, p. 98, 1991.

- Morgan, M. G., and Nair, I., "Alternative functional relationships between ELF field exposure and possible health effects: report on an expert workshop," *Bioelectromag.* 13, 335–350, 1992.
- National Health and Medical Research Council, Interim Guidelines on Limits of Exposure to 50/60 Hz Electric and Magnetic Fields, Radiation Health Series No. 30, Australian Radiation Laboratory, Canberra, 1989.
- Neher, A., Sakmann, B., Steinbach, J. H., "The extracellular patch clamp: a method for resolving currents through individual open channels in biological membranes," *Pflugers Arch.* 375, 219–228, 1978.
- Noble, D., "A modification of the Hodgkin-Huxley equations applicable to Purkinje fibre action and pacemaker potentials," J. Physiol. 160, 317–352, 1962.
- Nordenson, I., Hansson Mild, K., et al., "Chromosomal effects in lymphocytes of 400 kVsubstation workers," Rad. Envir. Biophys. 27, 39–47, 1988.
- Nunez, P. L., Electrical Fields of the Brain, Oxford Univ. Press, NY, 1981.
- Olcese, J., Ruess, S., and Vollrath, L., "Evidence for the involvement of the visual system in mediating magnetic field effects on pineal melatonin synthesis in the rat," *Brain Res.* 333, 382–384, 1985.
- Parkinson, W. C., and Hanks, C. T., "Search for cyclotron resonance in cells in vitro," *Bioelectromag.* 10, 129–145, 1989.
- Paterson, D. C., "Treatment of non-union with a constant direct current: a totally implantable system," Orthop. Clin. North Am. 15, 47–59, 1982.
- Pethig, R., Dielectric and Electronic Properties of Biological Material, Wiley, Chichester, 1979.
- Pickard, W. F., "A model for the acute electrosensitivity in cartilaginous fishes," IEEE Trans. BME 35, 243-249, 1988.
- Pilla, A., Bianco, B., et al., "On the sensitivity of cells and tissues to electromagnetic fields," Bioelectromag. Soc. 13th Ann. Mtg. Abstract Book, p. 49, 1991.
- Pohl, H. E., Dielectrophoresis, The Behaviour of Neutral Matter in Nonuniform Electric

Fields, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge UK, 1978.

- Polk, C., "Modification of charge distribution at boundaries between electrically dissimilar media," pp. 63–78 in Mechanistic Approaches to Interactions of Electric and Electromagnetic Fields with Living Systems, Blank, M., and Findl, E., Eds, Plenum, NY, 1987.
- Prasad, A. V., Miller, M. W., et al., "Failure to reproduce increased calcium uptake in human lymphocytes at purported cyclotron resonance," Environ. Biophys. 30, 321–332, 1991.
- Preston-Martin, S., and Peters, J. M., "Prior employment as a welder associated with the development of chronic myeloid leukemia," Br. J. Cancer 58, 105–108, 1988.
- Reese, J. A., Frazier, M. E., et al., "Evaluation of changes in diatom mobility after exposure to 16 Hz electromagnetic fields," *Bioelectromag.* 12, 21–25, 1991.
- Reiter, R. J., "Visible and non-visible electromagnetic field exposure: induced changes in pineal indoleamine metabolism," Foldes, A., and Reiter, R. J., Eds., Advances in Pineal Research: 6, John Libbey, London, 111–121, 1991.
- Repacholi, M. H., "Cancer from exposure to 50/60 Hz electric and magnetic fields a major scientific debate," Aust. Phys. Engrg. Sci. Med. 13, 4–17, 1990.
- Ross, "Combined DC and ELF magnetic fields can alter cell proliferation," *Bioelectromag.* 11, 27–36, 1990.
- Ryan, P., Lee, M. W., et al., "Risk factors for tumours of the brain and meninges: results from the Adelaide brain tumor study," Int. J. Cancer 51, 20–27, 1992.
- Saunders, R., Kowalczuk, C. I., and O'Hagan, J. B., "Calcium ion exchange in rat brain slices during exposure to weak ELF electric field," *Bioelectromag. Soc. 12th Ann. Mtg. Abstract Book*, p. 49, 1990.
- Savitz, D. A., "Case-control study of childhood cancer and residential exposure to electric and magnetic fields," Final Report to New York Power Lines Project, Appendix 15, Wadsworth Center, Albany, NY, 1987.
- Savitz, D. A., and Feingold, L., "Association of childhood cancer with residential traffic density," Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 15, 360-363, 1989.

Schwartz, J. L., House, D. E., and Mealing, G. A. R., "The exposure of frog hearts to CW or

amplitude-modulated VHF fields: selective efflux of calcium ions at 16 Hz," *Bioelectromag.* **11**, 349–358, 1990.

- Shelton, W. W., and Merritt, J. H., "In vitro study of microwave effects on calcium efflux in rat brain tissue," *Bioelectromag.* 2, 161–167, 1981.
- Sheppard, A. R., and Eisenbud, M., Biological Effects of Electric and Magnetic Fields of Extremely Low Frequency, NY University Press, NY, 1977.
- Smith, S. D., McLeod, B. R., et al., "Calcium cyclotron resonance and diatom mobility," Bioelectromag. 8, 215–227, 1987.
- Speers, M. A., Dobbins, J. G., and Miller, V. S., "Occupational exposures and brain cancer mortality: a preliminary study of East Texas residents," Am. J. Indust. Med. 13, 629–638, 1988.
- Steiner, U. E., and Ullrich, T., "Magnetic field effects in chemical kinetics and related phenomena," Chem. Rev. 89, 51-147, 1989.
- Takashima, S., Electrical Properties of Biological Membranes, Hilger, Bristol, 1989, pp. 320– 341.
- Tenforde, T. S., "Biological interactions and human health effects of extremely low frequency magnetic fields," pp. 291–315 in *Extremely Low Frequency Electromagnetic Fields: the Question of Cancer*, Wilson, B. W., Stevens, R. G., Anderson, L. E., Eds., Battelle Press, Columbus, 1990.
- Tenforde, T. S., "Dosimetry, biological effects and interaction mechanisms of ELF fields," Rad. Prot. Aust. 9, 85-93, 1991.
- Tenforde, T. S., "Basic science aspects of ELF field interactions," 1st World Congress for Electricity and Magnetism in Biology and Medicine, Lake Buena Vista, FL, Abstract Book, p. 1, 1992.
- Theriault, G., "Cancer risks due to exposure to electromagnetic fields, recent results," *Cancer Res.* **120**, 166–180, 1990.
- Thomas, J. R., Shrot, K., and Liboff, A. F., "Low intensity magnetic fields alter operant behavior in rats," *Bioelectromag.* 7, 349–357, 1986.

- Thomas, T. L., Stolley, P. D., et al., "Brain tumor mortality risk among men with electrical and electronics jobs: a case-control study," JNCI 79, 233–238, 1987.
- Tomlinson, R. W. S., and Wood, A. W., "Catecholamine induced changes in ion transport in short-circuited frog skin and the effect of β -blockade," J. Physiol. 257, 515–530, 1976.
- Tonquist, S., Knave, B., et al., "Incidence of leukemia and brain tumors in some 'electrical occupations'," Br. J. Indust. Med. 48, 597–603, 1991.
- Tynes, T., and Andersen, A., "Electromagnetic fields and male breast cancer," *Lancet* 336, 1596, 1990.
- Vollrath, L., Seidel, A., et al., "One millisecond of light suffices to suppress nighttime melatonin synthesis in rats," Neurosci. Lett. 98, 297–298, 1989.
- Weaver, J. C., "Transient aqueous pores: a mechanism for coupling electric fields to bilayer and cell membranes," p. 249 in *Mechanistic Approaches to Interactions of Electric and Electromagnetic Fields with Living Systems*, Blank, M., and Findl, E., Eds., Plenum, NY, 1987.
- Weaver, J. C., and Astumian, R. D., "The response of living cells to very weak electric fields: the thermal noise limit," *Science* 247, 459-462, 1990.
- Webb, S. J., and Booth, A. D., "Absorption of microwaves by microorganisms," *Nature* 222, 1199–1200, 1969.
- Wertheimer, N., and Leeper, E., "Electrical wiring configurations and childhood cancer," Am. J. Epidemiol. 109, 273–284, 1979.
- Wilson, B. W., Stevens, R. G., and Anderson, L. E., Eds., Extremely Low Frequency Electromagnetic Fields: the Question of Cancer, Battelle Press, Columbus, OH, 159–186, 1990.
- World Health Organization, Magnetic Fields (Environmental Health Criteria 69), WHO, Geneva, 1987.
- Yellon, S. M., "An acute 60 Hz magnetic field exposure suppresses the nighttime melatonin rise in the pineal and circulation of the adult Djungarian hamster," Dept. of Energy Annual Review of Research on Biological Effects of 50 and 60 Hz Electric and Magnetic Fields, Project Resumes A-25, 1991.

Appendix A. Evaluation of Government-Furnished Field Measurements

A.1. Introduction

A report entitled "The electromagnetic character of a shielded room" was prepared by NIST [A1] and provided to the principal investigator. Measurements were taken in a shielded room of size $7.87 \text{ m} \times 8.04 \text{ m} \times 2.61 \text{ m}$, with no humans in the space. Transmitting antennas were placed at one corner and receiving antennas at the opposite corner. A mechanical timer (i.e., a rotating paddle) was placed between the transmitter and receiver. The electric field was monitored by 10 isotropic probes, having three orthogonal 5-cm dipoles and a single 8-mm dipole. Dipoles were placed on a one meter grid. The system gave two different types of information: a) Swept frequency scans with the tuner spinning and no input power connection; and b) stepped frequency scans using a stepped tuner and input power connections.

A good mode distribution resulted in the 20–1000 MHz range. At the lower frequency range, there were insufficient mode densities to characterize the field. Swept frequency results were only good for establishing likely resonant frequencies. Here the transmitted power variations were not taken into account. From the data, net input power to the chamber could be found along with the VSWR and the field strength. Since the antennas were designed to work in free space, their characterization in the chamber is different than their normal operating conditions. A normalization factor S was defined as

$$S = \left[\frac{\text{Reference Power}}{\text{Input Power}}\right]^{1/2} = \left[\frac{1}{\text{Input Power}}\right]^{1/2}$$

where the reference power is taken as 1 W. The E fields were multiplied by S to correct them with respect to the input power. Along with the mode-stirred maximum results for the electric field, RSS values were given, where E_{RSS} is given by

$$E_{RSS} = \sqrt{E_x^2 + E_y^2 + E_z^2}$$

Special sources were provided by the sponsor for characterization in the chamber.

A.2. General Comments

No general conclusions about electromagnetic effects can be drawn from the measurements. Specific antennas and antenna systems were characterized by finding electric-field values as a function of frequency. Care must be taken in interpreting these results with respect to characterization in their actual environment. The actual environment includes having humans exposed to the field. Knowing the ambient field does not give information on the field inside the body, and the currents in various organs. Such information for certain frequency ranges is found in the main body of this report. Since standards are available along with levels causing effects, some comments can be made about field levels in the chamber. However, as discussed elsewhere in this report, standards are questionable, since they have not been related to fields inside the body or fields found to cause effects on the cellular level. It should also be noted that standards are based on heating or thermal effects. When these thermal values are translated to field values, they may have no significance with respect to *actual* field values that can cause hazardous biological effects.

A.3. Comparison with Standards for Human Exposure to Radio Frequency Electromagnetic Fields

A set of summary tables for radio frequency protection standards is given below. Note that the plane-wave equivalent power-density values are not appropriate for near-field conditions.

A.3.1. IEEE Standards (IEEE C95.1–1991, Revision of ANSI C95.1–1982)

In Tables 5 and 6 [A2], the exposure values in terms of electric and magnetic field strengths are the values obtained by spatially averaging values over an area equivalent to the vertical cross section of the human body (projected area). These plane-wave equivalent power-density values, although not appropriate for near-field conditions, are commonly used as a convenient comparison with MPE's at higher frequency and are displayed on some instruments in use.

Averaging Time	$E^2, H^2 ext{ or } S$	(minutes)	9	Q	Q	9	9	9	Q	$616000/f^{1.2}$
Power Density (S)	(E Field, $H $ Field)	(mW/cm^2)	(100, 1000000)	$(100, 10000/f^2)$	$(900/f^2, 10000/f^2)$	$(1, 10000/f^2)$	1	f/300	10	10
Magnetic Field	Strength (H)	(M/m)	163	16.3/f	16.3/f	16.3/f	0.163			
Electric Field	Strength (E)	(V/m)	614	614	1842/f	61.4	61.4			
Frequency	Range	(MHz)	0.0003-0.1	0.1–3.	3–30	30100	100-300	300-3000	3000-15000	15000-300000

olled Environments
Contr
\mathbf{for}
(MPE)
Exposure
Permissible
Maximum
ю.
Table

÷

ıg Time	H^2	ites)	9	9	9	9	$0.0636f^{1.337}$	30			
Averagir	E^2, S	(mint	9	9	$f^{2}/0.3$	30	30	30	30	f/00006	$616000/f^{1.2}$
Power Density (S)	(E Field, $H $ Field)	(mW/cm^2)	(100, 1000000)	$(100, 10000/f^2)$	$(180/f^2, 10000/f^2)$	$(180/f^2, 10000/f^2)$	$(0.2, 940000/f^{3.336})$	0.2	f/1500	f/1500	10
Magnetic Field	Strength (H)	(A/m)	163	16.3/f	16.3/f	16.3/f	$158.3/f^{1.668}$	0.0729			
Electric Field	Strength (E)	(N/m)	614	614	823.8/f	823.8/f	27.5	27.5			
Frequency	Range	(MHz)	0.0003-0.1	0.1 - 1.34	1.34 - 3	3–30	30-100	100-300	300-3000	3000-15000	15000-300000

Table 6. Maximum Permissible Exposure (MPE) for Uncontrolled Environments

37

A.3.2. ANSI (1982) [A3] American National Standards Institute (ANSI C95.1)

The data in [A3] on radio frequency protection guides are presented in Table 7.

The results in the government supplied report which are for named antennas (discones, bicones, log-periodic, stove pipes and special sources) are given in Figures 22–36 of the report. Note that these results have been corrected for input power. The maximum electric field found in these figures is about 10 V/m, and the majority of the maximum field values are around 1 V/m. As far as the IEEE and ANSI standard levels for Maximum Permissible Exposure (MPE), the systems in Figures 22–36 are all below the MPE levels. Some results are within an order of magnitude of the MPE, and are in the 30–144 MHz range. For example, for special source #2, Figure 34 (whip transmitter, bicone receiver) and special source #3, Figure 36, the electric-field peaks occur approximately at 27.36 MHz and 142 MHz, respectively.

A.4. References

- [A1] Koepke, G., Melquist, D., and Camell, D., "The electromagnetic character of a shielded room—a search for maximum field strength," Natl. Inst. of Stand. and Tech., Report SR-813-20-94, Boulder, CO, 1994.
- [A2] IEEE Standard for Safety Levels with Respect to Human Exposure to Radio Frequency Electromagnetic Fields, 3 kHz to 300 GHz, IEEE, NY, 1992.
- [A3] American National Standard Safety Levels with Respect to Human Exposure to Radio Frequency Electromagnetic Fields, 300 kHz to 100 GHz, IEEE, NY, 1982.

\mathbf{MHz}
f in
Guides,
Protection
Frequency
Radio
Table 7.

Power	Density	$(\mathrm{mW}/\mathrm{cm}^2)$	100	$900/f^{2}$,1	f/300	5
	H^2	$({\rm A}^{2}/{\rm m}^{2})$	2.5	$0.025 \ (900/f^2)$	0.025	0.025~(f/300)	0.125
	E	(V/m)	547	63.2~(30/f)	63.2	$63.2~(\sqrt{f/300})$	141.2
	E^2	(V^2/m^2)	40000	$4000 (900/f^2)$	4000	4000~(f/300)	20000
Frequency	Range	(MHz)	0.3-3	3-30	30-300	300-1500	1500-100000

Appendix B. Published Papers Related to This Contract

- King, R. W. P., and Wu, T. T., "The complete electromagnetic field of a three-phase transmission line over the earth and its interaction with the human body," J. Appl. Phys., 78, 668-683, 1995.
- King, R. W. P., and Sandler, S. S., "Electric fields and currents induced in organs of human body when exposed to ELF and VLF electromagnetic fields," *Radio Sci.* 31, 1153-1167, 1996.
- King, R. W. P., and Harrison, Jr., C. W., "Electromagnetic field in human body due to VLF transmitter," pp. 121–123 in *Proceedings of the 1995 IEEE 21st Annual Northeast Bioengineering Conference*, S. Wolpert, D. H. Brooks, and J. R. LaCourse, Eds., IEEE Service Center, Piscataway, NJ, 1995.
- 4. King, R. W. P., "The electromagnetic field generated in model of human head by simplified telephone transceiver," *Radio Sci.* **30**, 267–281, 1995.

MISSION OF AFRL/INFORMATION DIRECTORATE (IF)

The advancement and application of information systems science and technology for aerospace command and control and its transition to air, space, and ground systems to meet customer needs in the areas of Global Awareness, Dynamic Planning and Execution, and Global Information Exchange is the focus of this AFRL organization. The directorate's areas of investigation include a broad spectrum of information and fusion, communication, collaborative environment and modeling and simulation, defensive information warfare, and intelligent information systems technologies.